
City Issues Briefing 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the City Issues Briefing to be held as follows 
for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Monday, 20 May 2019

TIME: 10.30 am

VENUE: Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  City of Salford Community Stadium Ltd (Pages 1 - 14)

4  Any other business 

Contact Officer:
Karen Berry
Karen.berry@salford.gov.uk
0161 793 3318

Public Document Pack

mailto:Karen.berry@salford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

PART 1 (OPEN TO THE 
PUBLIC)

ITEM NO. 

REPORT OF 
THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

TO CITY ISSUES
ON 20 MAY 2019

TITLE:     City of Salford Community Stadium Ltd

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
It is recommended that the City Mayor:

1. Approves the council’s provision of financial resources in the form of a repayable interest 
bearing loan of up to £0.120m to City of Salford Community Stadium Ltd (COSCOS). This 
is to be on a 50:50 basis with Peel Holdings and represents an additional requirement 
relating to 2018/19 to recognise the additional costs associated with a compulsory 
purchase order affecting stadium land. It should be noted that interest payments 
receivable from COSCOS in 2018/19 exceed the total loan advanced in respect of 
2018/19.

2. Delegates to the Monitoring Officer the completion of all the necessary legal and ancillary 
documentation identified as necessary to give effect to recommendation 1 above

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
 
The stadium opened in December 2011. The stadium was constructed under a joint venture 
arrangement between Salford City Council and Peel Holdings. Whilst hosting top flight sport it is also a 
catalyst for the regeneration of the area.  

The CoSCoS agreements allow the shareholders/JV partners, Salford City Council and Peel Holdings, to 
provide working capital loans. Such facilities have been set up in previous years.

The stadium is broadly at a break even position on a trading basis. However, until such time as the land 
around the stadium is sold, allowing the repayment of existing development and working capital loans, 
there will continue to be a requirement for further working capital funding.

An initial working capital funding requirement of £1.340m, or £0.670m per JV partner, was identified for 
2018/19 however this requirement has increased by £0.240m or £0.120m per JV partner as set our 
below. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 Various working papers and agreements.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2

CONTACT OFFICERS: 

Joanne Hardman, tel. 0161 793 3156 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

It was anticipated that support will be needed from the JV partners on an annual basis until such time as 
the surrounding land is sold which will allow the repayment of development and working capital loans.  
Until that point, without further funding provided by the shareholders, CoSCOS will be unable to continue 
trading. The consequences will include a default on the existing development and working capital loans.

SOURCE OF FUNDING:
Borrowing

LEGAL ADVICE OBTAINED: Miranda Carruthers-Watt

Legal advice previously secured confirmed:
 The appropriateness of the facility agreement as a mechanism for funding
 The requirement for State Aid compliance
 The power of the City Mayor to personally exercise this executive function and to make the 

decision
This position has not changed.

FINANCIAL ADVICE OBTAINED: See body of report

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): The stadium is in the Barton ward but users are likely to 
reside in all wards of the city. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:
 Connecting Salford
 Visit Salford
 Salford Economic Development Plan

Page 2



3Page 3



4

REPORT DETAIL

1 Background

1.1 The stadium opened in December 2011, constructed under a joint venture arrangement between 
Salford City Council and Peel Holdings. Whilst hosting top flight sport it is also a catalyst for the 
regeneration of the area and a benefit to the community in terms of employment, growth in visitor 
numbers aiding the local economy, provision of sports and cultural facilities.
  

1.2 The stadium is surrounded by prime development land belonging to the stadium company. The 
first plot of land, sold to Greene King, has generated approximately 90 jobs and two further plots 
are nearing final sale.  Further sales of development land are in the pipeline including retail and 
leisure options bringing further jobs and economic benefits to the city.
  

1.3 On 26 May 2010, Cabinet approved the council entering into the Shareholders and Loan 
agreements for Salford Community Stadium Ltd (COSCOS).

1.4 Under the terms of the Shareholders Agreement 2010, it was agreed that the funding for 
COSCOS would initially be limited to the Development Loan (supporting the building of the 
stadium) and a Working Capital Loan (supporting day to day cash flow requirementsof 
COSCOS), provided by the council.

1.5 The Agreement also included a discretionary facility for the Shareholders to provide further 
working capital loans. The Shareholders have previously provided such loans to COSCOS.

1.6 In previous years the council has provided a working capital loan exactly matched by Peel 
Holdings. 

1.7 Despite an expected break even position at a trading level, until such time as land around the 
stadium is sold, allowing the repayment of existing development and working capital loans, there 
is still likely to be a funding requirement in order to meet the costs of maintaining the loans. 

1.8 An initial working capital loan of £0.670m was approved for 2018/19 following a Cabinet meeting 
on 11 September 2018 (Appendix A). This report concerns the additional funding requirement for 
2018/19.

2 CoSCoS 2018/19 position

2.1 The report of 11 September 2018 set out the headlines of funding position as the start of 2018/19 
in terms of loan balances, land valuation, state aid compliance and reserves. The original 
approval of the 2018/19 loan was based upon estimates of known expenditure and income 
including:-

- All outstanding capital repayments on the development loan are made in
accordance with the existing mortgage.

- All interest charged on the Development Loan and the initial working capital loan
is paid in the year due.

- Funds to finance the stadium company will be advanced on a 50/50 basis by the
City Council and Peel Holdings.

2.2 Whilst forecasts and assumptions are made for planning purposes, actual expenditure and 
income and cashflow is monitored during the year with the impact on the loan amounts from each 
JV partner considered.  During 2018/19 there remains pressure upon the cashflow of the stadium 
chiefly due to costs associated with a compulsory purchase order promoted by United Utilities, 
which would impact upon the stadium’s land.  This matter is now settled however non-recurring 
costs were incurred which form the basis for the additional request for a working capital loan.  It 

Page 4



5

should be noted that in terms of its trading activities the stadium continues to operate on a break 
even basis.

3 Legal mechanism for providing funding
3.1 It is proposed that the additional loan finance is provided by a legal Facility Agreement between 

Salford City Council, Peel Land (Red City) Ltd and the borrower, COSCOS. This is the same 
mechanism as that employed in previous years.

3.2 The key proposed terms are as follows:
 The Lenders would agree to provide COSCOS with a term loan facility to be provided by the 

Lenders on a 50:50 basis. 
 COSCOS shall use all money borrowed under the facility for working capital purposes.
 The loan would be drawn down by COSCOS in accordance with need once approved by the 

COSCOS Board 
 Interest to be charged at the agreed rate between the shareholders but will only be payable 

upon redemption.
 The Lenders may elect by notice in writing to COSCOS (a “Loan Note Notice”) to receive in 

satisfaction of repayment of the Loan and accrued interest thereon the issue of Loan Notes 
to the value of the Loan and interest outstanding. The Loan Notes would be future dated to a 
period when the trading operations of the Stadium will support repayment. It is proposed that 
this is dated 2022.

3.3 The City Council, COSCOS, and Peel Holdings will need to enter into an agreement to formalise 
the facility.

4 Recommendation
4.1 It is recommended that the City Mayor:

1. Approves the council’s provision of financial resources in the form of a repayable interest 
bearing loan of up to £0.120m to COSCOS. This is to be on a 50:50 basis with Peel 
Holdings, the sum being the council’s 50% share

2. Delegates to the Monitoring Officer the completion of all the necessary legal and ancillary 
documentation identified as necessary to give effect to recommendation 1 above

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

PART 1 (OPEN TO THE 
PUBLIC)

ITEM NO. 

REPORT OF 
THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

TO CABINET 
ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

TITLE:     City of Salford Community Stadium Ltd

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
It is recommended that the City Mayor:

1. Approves the council’s provision of financial resources in the form of a repayable 
interest bearing loan of up to £0.670m to City of Salford Community Stadium Ltd 
(COSCOS). This is to be on a 50:50 basis with Peel Holdings for the financial 
period to 31 March 2019, the sum being the council’s 50% share. It should be 
noted that interest payments receivable from COSCOS 2018/19 exceed this level 
of loan.

2. Delegates to the Monitoring Officer the completion of all the necessary legal and 
ancillary documentation identified as necessary to give effect to recommendation 
1 above

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
 
The stadium opened in December 2011. The stadium was constructed under a joint venture 
arrangement between Salford City Council and Peel Holdings. Whilst hosting top flight sport it is 
also a catalyst for the regeneration of the area.  

The CoSCoS agreements allow the shareholders/JV partners, Salford City Council and Peel Holdings, to 
provide working capital loans. Such facilities have been set up in previous years.

The stadium is broadly at a break even position on a trading basis. However, until such time as the land 
around the stadium is sold, allowing the repayment of existing development and working capital 
loans, there will continue to be a requirement for further working capital funding.

There is a working capital funding requirement of £1.340m, or £0.670m per JV partner, in 2018/19.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 Shareholders’ Agreement and Funding Agreement 2010
 CoSCoS financial monitoring reports

Page 7



2

CONTACT OFFICERS: 

Chris Hesketh, tel. 0161 793 2668, chris.hesketh@salford.gov.uk 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

Without further funding provided by the shareholders, CoSCOS will be unable to continue trading. The 
consequences will include a default on the existing development and working capital loans.

SOURCE OF FUNDING:
Borrowing

LEGAL ADVICE OBTAINED: None.

Legal advice secured in 2017/18 confirmed:
 The appropriateness of the facility agreement as a mechanism for funding
 The requirement for State Aid compliance
 The power of the City Mayor to personally exercise this executive function and to make the 

decision

FINANCIAL ADVICE OBTAINED: See body of report

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): The stadium is in the Barton ward but users are likely to 
reside in all wards of the city. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:
 Connecting Salford
 Visit Salford
 Salford Economic Development Plan

Page 8



3

REPORT DETAIL

1 Background
1.1 The stadium opened in December 2011, constructed under a joint venture arrangement 

between Salford City Council and Peel Holdings. Whilst hosting top flight sport it is also a 
catalyst for the regeneration of the area and a benefit to the community.  In terms of the 
stadium itself: 

 Approximately 250 people are currently employed (in both core and casual 
positions) within the stadium

 Non-match day income continues to grow with 55,368 visitors to the 
stadium for conferences and events

 Pitch facilities are used by both professional and amateur teams from a 
wide range of sports. 

 The stadium has recently hosted its first concert and has ambitions for 
further concerts and events

1.2 The stadium is surrounded by prime development land belonging to the stadium 
company. The first plot of land, sold to Greene King, has generated approximately 90 
jobs and two further plots are nearing final sale.  Further sales of development land are in 
the pipeline including retail and leisure options bringing further jobs and economic 
benefits to the city.
  

1.3 On 26 May 2010, Cabinet approved the council entering into the Shareholders and Loan 
agreements for Salford Community Stadium Ltd (COSCOS).

1.4 Under the terms of the Shareholders Agreement 2010, it was agreed that the funding for 
COSCOS would initially be limited to the Development Loan (supporting the building of 
the stadium) and a Working Capital Loan (supporting day to day cash flow 
requirementsof COSCOS), provided by the council.

1.5 The Agreement also included a discretionary facility for the Shareholders to provide 
further working capital loans. The Shareholders have previously provided such loans to 
COSCOS.

1.6 In previous years the council has provided a working capital loan exactly matched by 
Peel Holdings. 

1.7 Despite an expected break even position at a trading level, until such time as land around 
the stadium is sold, allowing the repayment of existing development and working capital 
loans, there is still likely to be a funding requirement in order to meet the costs of 
maintaining the loans. 

1.8 This report concerns the forecast funding requirement for 2018/19.

2 CoSCoS debt position

2.1 The current position on CoSCoS loans is set out in table A below.

Page 9



4

2.2 The CoSCoS business model relies on the sale of land to repay the loans. It is not 
possible to accurately predict the sale value as it will depend on the intended use, 
abnormal costs, infrastructure costs, market conditions etc. However, for the purpose of a 
rough comparison to the outstanding loan value of £29.6m (SCC + Peel), two possible 
estimates are:

 £29.6m, being an estimate based on agreed sales of two of the plots, extrapolated to the 
remainder of the plots (and subject to the factors mentioned above)

 £17.0m, being the accounting freehold land value in CoSCoS’s statement of accounts 2017/18 

2.3 The council maintains a reserve to provide against the possibility of sale values falling short of the 
amount required to repay debt, see section 2.6 and table D below.

2.4 Interest on loans is charged to CoSCoS at a State Aid-compliant 5.16%. The council therefore 
generates income as illustrated in table B below.

2.5 The funds lent by the council to CoSCoS have been borrowed through the council’s day-to-day 
treasury management activities. The council’s treasury management policy is to borrow short 
term and continue to “roll over” debt on a short term basis to take advantage of low 
interest rates, although at some point, as market interest rates rise, it will need to “lock in” 
to long term debt at a higher rate. In effect, this means that the council is currently 
making an in-year “profit” on its borrowing compared to its lending in relation to CoSCoS, 
although as rates rise and the council refinances, this will reduce. Table C below 
illustrates the current and some potential future positions.

Page 10



5

2.6 It is important to note that the “profit” made by the interest rate differential serves to 
compensate the council for the risk of default. The interest is therefore held in a reserve 
until such time as the risk position crystallises, rather than being released into the general 
fund. The reserve covers the possibility of sale values falling short of the amount required 
to repay the debt. Table D below illustrates the level of the reserve held compared with 
the debt over time. 

2.7 In the event of default or land sale shortfall, the balance of risk not covered by the reserve 
would be offset by any liquidated value of CoSCoS net assets. 

3 Funding requirement forecast
3.1 The funding requirement forecast for 2018/19 was originally £1.584 million. However, the 

forecast requirement for 2017/18 was not required in full; this allows an element of the previous 
year’s facility to reduce the 2018/19 requirement to a revised forecast of £1.340m, or £0.670m 
per JV partner. 

3.2 The funding demand on the council is less than the interest income generated, so the net level of 
council borrowing to finance CoSCoS would not increase.

3.3 In order to forecast the future cash requirements of COSCOS it has been necessary to 
extrapolate estimates of all known expenditure and income cash flows and to make certain 
assumptions as follows:
 All outstanding capital repayments on the development loan are made in

accordance with the existing mortgage.
 All interest charged on the Development Loan and the initial working capital loan

is paid in the year due.

Page 11



6

 Principal and interest repayments on all subsequent loans are repaid in accordance 
with the terms of the loan notes.

 Funds to finance the stadium company will be advanced on a 50/50 basis by the
City Council and Peel Holdings.

 Interest on the loan will be payable at a market rate to be agreed therefore rendering 
the loan State Aid neutral. The interest has been ignored for cash flow forecast 
purposes, as interest on new loans is expected to accrue but is not expected to be 
actually paid in the cash flow planning period. Interest repayment will be a number of 
years hence aligned to Loan Note repayment. Current loan notes are repayable in 
2022.

3.4 The forecasts and assumptions are made for planning purposes and will be reviewed to 
take account of future changes in likely costs and income. It is also currently anticipated 
that, over the medium term, further loan finance will be required from the two JV partners 
to support the company. The estimated additional loan finance in future years will depend 
upon the timing of land receipts and decisions to be taken about which debt takes priority 
for repayment.

4 Legal mechanism for providing funding
4.1 It is proposed that the additional loan finance is provided by a legal Facility Agreement between 

Salford City Council, Peel Land (Red City) Ltd and the borrower, COSCOS. This is the same 
mechanism as that employed in previous years.

4.2 The key proposed terms are as follows:
 The Lenders would agree to provide COSCOS with a term loan facility to be provided 

by the Lenders on a 50:50 basis. 
 COSCOS shall use all money borrowed under the facility for working capital 

purposes.
 Instalments would be drawn down by COSCOS in accordance with need once 

approved by the COSCOS Board on a monthly basis 
 Interest to be charged at the agreed rate between the shareholders but will only be 

payable upon redemption.
 The Lenders may elect by notice in writing to COSCOS (a “Loan Note Notice”) to 

receive in satisfaction of repayment of the Loan and accrued interest thereon the 
issue of Loan Notes to the value of the Loan and interest outstanding. The Loan 
Notes would be future dated to a period when the trading operations of the Stadium 
will support repayment. It is proposed that this is dated 2022.

4.3 The City Council, COSCOS, and Peel Holdings will need to enter into an agreement to formalise 
the facility.

5 Recommendation
5.1 It is recommended that the City Mayor:

1. Approves the council’s provision of financial resources in the form of a repayable 
interest bearing loan of up to £0.670m to COSCOS. This is to be on a 50:50 basis 
with Peel Holdings for the financial period to 31 March 2019, the sum being the 
council’s 50% share

Page 12



7

2. Delegates to the Monitoring Officer the completion of all the necessary legal and 
ancillary documentation identified as necessary to give effect to recommendation 
1 above

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 City of Salford Community Stadium Ltd
	Appendix - Stadium funding 1819 v5 cabinet


